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INTRODUCTION TO THE MOCK TRIAL COMPETITION
The Middle School Mock Trial competitions are sponsored by the South Carolina Bar Law Related Education (LRE) Division. Public schools, private schools and home schools throughout the state have been invited to participate in this program. Each participating school enters a team ideally composed of 14 - 16 students (and a minimum of 6 students) sponsored by a teacher volunteer. The SC Bar LRE Division will assist in locating attorney coaches to help teams prepare the case and will also provide the team with the case and other competition materials on the LRE Web site at www.scbar.org/lre.
The Mock Trial competitions are divided into regional competitions with a culminating state competition. A total of twelve teams advance from the Middle School Regional competitions to participate in the state competition using the case assigned.
Teams are officially assigned to a region after the drop date assigned for each level. Once teams are assigned to a region, the teams cannot switch regions without the approval of the state coordinator. (Regions are subject to be split based on capacity of courthouses.)
The Middle School Mock Trial competition schedule is as follows:
- Coastal – Conway - Saturday, November 3, 2012
- Lowcountry - Charleston - Saturday, November 3, 2012
- Lexington – Lexington - Saturday, November 3, 2012
- Piedmont – Greenville - Saturday, November 3, 2012
- State – Lexington - Friday and Saturday, December 7 and 8, 2012
The goals of this program are, first and foremost, to educate students about the basis of our American judicial system and the mechanics of litigation. The program also serves to build bridges of mutual cooperation, respect and support between the community and the legal profession. Through participation in the Mock Trial program, students will increase their basic skills such as listening, speaking, writing, reading, and analyzing. All participants are encouraged to keep in mind that the goal of the Mock Trial program is not to win for the sake of winning, but to learn and understand the meaning of good citizenship in a democratic republic through participation in our system of law and justice. All who participate in the Mock Trial competition are winners in this sense.
Students – Through participation you will experience what it is like to prepare for and present a case before a presiding judge and scoring judges. Working with your team and coaches, you will learn to evaluate information and respond quickly. As you prepare, you will sharpen public speaking and presentation skills. The greatest benefit is the opportunity to learn how the legal system works. By studying and understanding courtroom procedure, you should become more comfortable with federal and state laws as part of the legal system. Your interaction with some of South Carolina’s finest attorneys and judges will give you a glimpse of the different interpretations of trial procedure and different approaches of individual members in the legal arena.
Teacher Coaches, Attorney Coaches, and/or Judges – We strongly encourage you to focus on the goal of participation by students rather than stressing competition while preparing for the competition. Your contributions of time and talent are making many experiential educational opportunities available annually to many South Carolina students. Your participation is a key element to the success of this program. You can be proud of the impact you have made on the lives of these students.
CASE RELEASE INFORMATION
The case materials are available on the Internet in the LRE section of the South Carolina Bar’s Web site, located at www.scbar.org/lre. Click on the Middle School Mock Trial logo. The Middle School Mock Trial case will be released no later than 5 p.m. on August 31, 2012.
DISCUSSION FORUM
The Mock Trial forum can have questions posted concerning the content of the case materials, the rules, and the competition. The forum is located on the LRE website, which is located at www.scbar.org/lre. Click on the Middle School Mock Trial logo, and then by click on the link for the Discussion Forum which takes you to a page providing information on the forum. At the bottom of the screen, click on the Middle School Mock Trial Discussion Forum, which takes you to a page to register for the forum. If registered previously, a new registration is required. It can take up to 48 hours to gain access to the forum once registered. The forum should be checked often for postings. Responses posted to the questions could change rules, case materials and/or competition specifics that will apply on competition day. Forum questions may be posted up until seven (7) business days prior to a competition.
SOUTH CAROLINA BAR
Law Related Education (LRE) Division
(803) 252-5139, lre@scbar.org
Cynthia H. Cothran, LRE Director, ccothran@scbar.org
Handles the following types of Mock Trial Questions: Competition, case, forum, and any Mock Trial concerns
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Handles the following types of Mock Trial Questions: Registration, payment, submission of forms, and updating forms
Donald Lanier, LRE Manager, dlanier@scbar.org
Handles the following types of Mock Trial Questions: Webinar registration, forum registration, downloading Mock Trial document(s), LRE website questions, and securing an attorney coach
MOCK TRIAL CASE
(Middle School)
COMPLAINT
(A complaint is the document that a Plaintiff files with the court to start a lawsuit. It contains the Plaintiff’s version of the facts of the case. A Plaintiff must prove the facts in the case. It is up to the jury to decide the facts.)
AND
ANSWER
(An answer is the document that a Defendant files in response to the Complaint. The Defendant must address each of the points in the Complaint and give his/her version of the facts.)
Summons and Complaint
Jess McGee v Kasey Moore
Comes now, the Plaintiff, who would respectfully allege and show unto this Honorable Court that:
1. The Plaintiff is a citizen and resident of Bryan, Bryan County, South Carolina.
2. Upon information and belief, the Defendant is a citizen and resident of Bryan, Bryan County, South Carolina.
3. The facts and circumstances giving rise to this action occurred on State Road 377(SR-377) between the intersections with Reynolds Road and County Road 42 (CR-42), in Bryan, Bryan County, South Carolina.
4. On March 23, 2011, at approximately 8:30 a.m., Mel Hinnant was operating a Chevrolet Tahoe in the eastbound lane of SR-377 in Bryan, Bryan County, South Carolina, approaching its intersection with CR-42, adjacent to the Plaintiff’s property, known as Spring Garden Farms. Hinnant observed a bull, owned by the Plaintiff, who had inadvertently and uncharacteristically escaped from Spring Garden Farms and wandered into the roadway in Hinnant’s path. Hinnant appropriately slowed and stopped the vehicle to avoid colliding with the Plaintiff’s bull, when suddenly and without warning Hinnant’s vehicle was struck violently from behind by a minivan being operated by the Defendant, forcing Hinnant to lose control of the vehicle, resulting in a collision with the Plaintiff’s bull. The resulting injuries to the Plaintiff’s bull were so severe the bull had to be euthanized.
5. As a result of the collision, the Plaintiff suffered damages, in particular:
a. Loss of the bull, valued at $25,000; and,
b. Loss of future earnings from the bull in the form of stud fees of $5,000 per year for a period of five years.
6. The Defendant’s conduct was negligent, careless, reckless, grossly negligent, willful and wanton in one or more of the following particulars:
a. Failure to obey the posted speed limit;
b. Failure to slow the vehicle upon cresting a hill;
c. Following Hinnant’s vehicle too closely;
d. Failing to keep a proper lookout for vehicles and other obstructions in the roadway;
e. Failing to exercise that degree of reasonable and ordinary skill and care necessary to avoid injury and damages to others.
7.The Defendant’s conduct was the direct and proximate cause of the damages suffered by the Plaintiff for which the Plaintiff is entitled to relief in the form of judgment against the Defendant.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff prays for judgment against the Defendant for:
a. Actual damages;
b. The costs of bringing this action; and,
c. Such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.
Boggs Law Firm, LLC
Christopher J. Boggs
Attorney for the Plaintiff
Post Office Box 112233
Columbia, SC 29200
(555) 555-0987
Columbia, South Carolina
September 18, 2011
Answer and Counterclaim
Jess McGee v Kasey Moore
The Defendant in this matter, answering the Plaintiff’s Complaint, alleges as follows:
1. Each and every allegation in the Plaintiff’s Complaint, unless specifically admitted herein, is denied.
2. Admits Paragraph 1.
3. Admits Paragraph 2.
4. Admits Paragraph 3.
5. Admits only so much of Paragraph 4 that alleges that a bull owned by the Plaintiff was loose from the Plaintiff’s property and was in the eastbound lane of State Road 377 (SR-377) at approximately 8:30 a.m. The Defendant denies all other allegations and demands strict proof thereof.
6. Denies the allegations of Paragraph 5.
7. Denies the allegations of Paragraph 6.
8. Denies the allegations of Paragraph 7.
FOR A FIRST ALTERNATIVE DEFENSE
(COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE)
9. The Defendant incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 8 in this defense as if fully repeated herein.
10. The damages sustained by the Plaintiff, if any, were due solely to the Plaintiff’s own negligence, recklessness, wantonness and willfulness in one or more of the following particulars:
a. Failing to secure livestock, including the bull in question, with proper fencing or other means readily available to the Plaintiff;
b. Failing to respond to notice of a down fence with appropriate repairs or other means readily available to the Plaintiff;
c. Failing to exercise that degree of reasonable and ordinary skill and care necessary for the protection of the Plaintiff’s livestock and the protection of people traveling in the roadway.
Plaintiff’s conduct was the direct and proximate cause of the damages suffered by the Plaintiff, if any, for which the Plaintiff is solely responsible.
11. If it is determined that this Defendant was negligent in contributing to the Plaintiff’s damages, if any, the negligence of the Plaintiff as described in Paragraph 10, above, exceeded the negligence of the Defendant and such negligence is a complete bar to the Plaintiff’s recovery in this action.
12. In the alternative, if it is determined that the negligence of the Plaintiff as described in Paragraph 10, above, is not greater than the negligence of the Defendant, then the verdict, if any, should be reduced by an amount proportionate to the percentage of the Plaintiff’s negligence.
COUNTERCLAIM
13. The Defendant incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 12 in this defense as if fully repeated herein.
14. The Plaintiff had a duty to keep their livestock secure and their fencing around Spring Garden Farms in proper working order.
15. The Plaintiff had notice and/or knew that the fencing around Spring Garden Farms had breaks in it.
16. Due to the Plaintiff’s utter lack of maintenance, this failure directly lead to a bull owned by the Plaintiff to wander aimlessly and dangerously on State Road 377 (SR-377) on March 23, 2011.
17. The Plaintiff’s bull then caused an accident in the eastbound lane of State Road 377 (SR-377) just after a small rise in the road.
18. As a direct result of the negligence, recklessness, wantonness and willfulness of the Plaintiff, the Defendant incurred the following and is entitled to recover $6,363.62 in the following damages:
a. Total loss of the Defendant’s vehicle;$5,000.00
b. Costs of towing the Defendant’s vehicle;$155.00
c. Total loss of the Defendant’s sunglasses; and$120.00
d. Rental car fee for 12 days.$1,088.62
WHEREFORE, the Defendant prays for judgment from this Court as follows:
a. A judgment in favor of the Defendant and against the Plaintiff;
b. An award of damages from the Plaintiff; and
c. Such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.
Little and Associates, PA
Sara Renee Little
Attorney for the Defendant
Post Office Drawer 3423
Columbia, SC 29200
(555) 555-0099
Columbia, South Carolina
October 25, 2011
Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant's Counterclaim
Jess McGee v Kasey Moore
Comes now, the Plaintiff, who would respectfully allege and show unto this Honorable Court that:
1. Each and every allegation in the Defendant’s Counterclaim is denied, unless specifically admitted in this Reply.
2. Paragraphs 1 through 13 are the Defendant’s Answers and Affirmative defense to this complaint and require no response. However, to the extent a response is required, these allegations are denied.
3. In response to Paragraph 14, the Plaintiff states that it keeps its fence in working order and specifically denies these allegations.
4. The allegations of Paragraphs 15, 16, 17 and 18 are denied and the Plaintiff demands strict proof thereof.
5. The damages to the Defendant, if any, were the direct result of the Defendant’s own negligent, careless, reckless, grossly negligent, willful and wanton conduct, including:
a. Failing to obey the posted speed limit;
b. Failing to slow the vehicle upon cresting a hill;
c. Following Hinnant’s vehicle too closely;
d. Failing to keep a proper lookout for vehicles and other obstructions in the roadway; and
e. Failing to exercise that degree of reasonable and ordinary skill and care necessary to avoid injury and damages to the Defendant and the Defendant’s own property.
WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff prays for:
a. A judgment in favor of the Plaintiff with regard to the Defendant’s counterclaim;
b. The costs of defending against the Defendant’s counterclaim; and
c. Such other and further relief as the Court deems appropriate.
Boggs Law Firm, LLC
Christopher J. Boggs
Attorney for the Plaintiff
Post Office Box 112233
Columbia, SC 29200
(555) 555-0987
Columbia, South Carolina
November 29, 2011
Stipulations
Jess McGee v. Kasey Moore
- This is a civil action that will be tried before a jury. The Plaintiff, Jess McGee, an individual, is suing in an individual capacity. Kasey Moore, an individual, is the sole the Defendant. The cause of the action on which the Plaintiff is going to trial is a claim for damages based on the theory of negligence, specifically, that the Defendant was negligent in operating the vehicle owned by the Defendant. The Defendant has alleged the affirmative defense of contributory negligence. The Defendant has also asserted a counterclaim for damages. In addition, South Carolina is a modified comparative negligence state. That is, a party, deemed more than 50% responsible for their own injury is barred from recovering in their claim against the other alleged negligent party.
- There are no defects in the pleadings. The Defendant has properly appeared and answered. The court has jurisdiction over the parties. All questions of fact are being submitted to the jury. Questions of law will be decided by the court. No law may be argued other than what is contained in the jury charges in the case materials.
- All exhibits included in the case materials are authentic and are accurate copies of the originals. No objections to the authenticity of the exhibits will be entertained. The only exhibits to be used at the trial are those included in the case materials. The signatures on the witness statements and all other documents are authentic. No witness may be examined or cross-examined as to the contents of anything not included in the case materials. This includes, but is not limited to, information found on the Internet, social media, books, magazines, or other publications.
- Both parties agree that Exhibit #6 Map of Accident Scene is drawn to scale and agree that the locations pointed out on the map are accurately reflected.
- Jess McGee, Mel Hinnant and Hunter Brown are to testify on behalf of the Plaintiff. They may not testify for or be called on behalf of the Defendant. Kasey Moore, Sung Ye and Wesley Walle are to testify on behalf of the Defendant. They may not testify for or be called on behalf of the Plaintiff. None of the witnesses may be treated as adverse to the party calling them.
- The charge of the Court is accurate in all respects, and no objections to the Charge will be entertained.
- Both parties stipulate that Kasey Moore’s vehicle was a total loss and was valued at $5,000.
- There is no rebuttal. Both parties stipulate that the Plaintiff will present the Plaintiff’s entire case and then the Defendant will present the Defendant’s entire case.
- No persons in the vehicles driven by Kasey Moore or Mel Hinnant suffered any personal injuries and there are no claims for personal injuries.
- Mel Hinnant’s vehicle was totaled; however, no claims by Mel Hinnant are part of this lawsuit. Mel Hinnant was made whole by other means that are not relevant to this lawsuit.
- Neither party is seeking punitive damages.
McGee v Moore Jury Instructions
Note: Jury instructions are NOT to be read to the jury on the day of the Mock Trial Competition.
The Court hereby approves the following preliminary jury instructions in the above-captioned case. It notes that the presentation of evidence at trial may warrant additional instructions, and it will consider those instructions at a later date.
A. The Jury: Finders of the Facts
Under our constitution and code of laws, only you -- the jury --can make the findings of fact in this case. I am not permitted to tell you how I feel about the evidence which has been presented. And throughout this trial, I have intended to be fair and impartial toward each of the parties involved.
To determine the facts in this case, you will have to evaluate the credibility -- or believability of witnesses. You are the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses, and, in passing upon their credibility, you may take into consideration many things, such as:
- How would you describe the appearance and manner of the witness on the stand, sometimes referred to as the demeanor of the witness?
- Was the witness forthright or hesitant?
- Was the witness' testimony consistent, or did it contain discrepancies?
- What was the ability of the witness to know the facts about which he or she testified?
- Did the witness have a cause or a reason to be biased and prejudiced in favor of the testimony he or she gave?
- Was the testimony of the witness corroborated or made stronger by other testimony and evidence, or was it made weaker or impeached by such other testimony and evidence?
You can believe as much or as little of each witness' testimony as you think proper. You may believe the testimony of a single witness against that of many witnesses -- or just the opposite.
Of course, you do not determine the truth merely by counting the number of witnesses presented by each side. Throughout this process you have but one objective -- to seek the truth, regardless of its source.
B. Circumstantial Evidence
There are two types of evidence generally presented during a trial -- direct evidence and circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence is the testimony of a person who asserts or claims to have actual knowledge of a fact, such as an eyewitness. Circumstantial evidence is proof of a chain of facts and circumstances indicating the existence of a fact in issue. The law makes absolutely no distinction between the weight or value to be given to either direct or circumstantial evidence. Nor is a greater degree of certainty required of circumstantial evidence than of direct evidence.
You should weigh all the evidence in the case in arriving at a verdict.
C. The Judge: Instructor of the Law
The same Constitution and laws which designate and make you the finders of the facts also make me the instructor of the law. You must accept the law as I give it to you. If I am wrong, there is another place and time for that error to be corrected. But for now, you must accept the law as I give it to you -- and I caution you that that does not mean what you think the law should be, but what I tell you it is.
D. Elements of a Cause of Action
To state a cause of action against a Defendant, the law requires a Plaintiff to set out in his or her complaint the essential claims which make up that Cause of Action. In his or her complaint, the Plaintiff in this action has set forth the essential claims of each cause of action, each of which is denied by the Defendant.
E. Defenses
In his/her Answer to the Plaintiff's Complaint, the Defendant has set forth various defenses.
The first defense is what is called a qualified general denial. By this defense, the Defendant admits the truthfulness of certain claims --such as the time and date of the occurrence -- but denies each and every claim that would make the Defendant responsible for the Plaintiff's injuries.
By doing this, the Defendant is placing upon the Plaintiff the burden of proving those necessary elements I told you about earlier.
In addition to this qualified general denial, the Defendant puts forth defenses to the particular Causes of Action. Those will be discussed with the specific Causes of Action.
F. Burden of Proof
The Plaintiff has the burden of proof on his or her cause of action. She or he must meet this burden by proving his or her claims by the preponderance -- or the greater weight -- of the evidence. So, what do we mean by the greater weight of the evidence? Simply this, imagine a traditional set of scales. When the case begins, the scales are even. After all the evidence has been presented, if the scales should remain even or if they should tip -- ever so slightly -- in favor of the other side, then the proponents will have failed to meet the burden of proof, and your verdict should be for the other side.
If, on the other hand, those scales should tip –no matter how slightly -- in favor of the proponents, then they will have met the burden of proof, and your verdict would be for the proponents.
Of course, there is no way to weigh evidence, except through the exercise of your good common sense and judgment. It is entirely a mental process -- and the evidence you should give the most weight to is that which convinces you of its truth, regardless of the source from which it comes.
The Defendant in this case also asserted a counterclaim for damages. For the same reasons noted above, the Defendant has the burden of proving his or her counterclaim.
G. Impartial Jury
Now you have been sworn to give all parties in this case a fair and impartial trial, and when you have done so, you will have complied with your oath, and no one will have a right to criticize your verdict. You must not be influenced by opinions or expressions of opinion you may have heard outside of this courtroom, but rather should base your verdict only on the testimony of the sworn witnesses who took the stand, along with the other evidence.
You must not be swayed by caprice, passion, prejudice or improper sympathy for or against any of the parties in this case. Remember, you have no friends to reward or enemies to punish, and all parties are entitled to a fair and impartial trial at your hands.
H. Negligence
Negligence is the breach of duty of care owed to the Plaintiff by the Defendant. This is a negligence case. In order to recover for damages, the party claiming the other party is negligent must establish the following elements by a preponderance of the evidence. The term “preponderance of the evidence” means the greater weight of credible evidence admitted in this case.
To sustain the burden of proof, the Plaintiff must prove that the Defendant was negligent in the operation of the Defendant’s vehicle, which was a cause of the damages to the Plaintiff’s property:
- The Defendant owed a duty of reasonable care in the operation of the Defendant’s vehicle;
- The Defendant acted unreasonably and breached the duty of care;
- The Defendant’s unreasonable conduct caused the damages to the Plaintiff’s property; and,
- The Plaintiff is entitled to compensation.
In this case, the Defendant has made a counterclaim against the Plaintiff for damages caused to the Defendant’s vehicle. In order to recover for damages from the Plaintiff, the Defendant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the Plaintiff was negligent in the containment of the Plaintiff’s bull, which was a cause of the damages to the Defendant’s property:
- The Plaintiff owed a duty of reasonable care in the containment of the Plaintiff’s bull;
- The Plaintiff acted unreasonably and breached the duty of care;
- The Plaintiff’s unreasonable conduct caused the damages to the Defendant’s property; and,
- The Defendant is entitled to compensation.
The law sets forth the following tests to determine whether or not these elements are proven:
- Duty of Reasonable Care: Whenever a person’s conduct creates a foreseeable risk of harm, that person owes a duty of reasonable care to avoid that harm. A person owes a duty to anyone within the zone of danger created by the person’s conduct. Foreseeability analysis requires that you turn back the clock to the time when the conduct occurred and examine the circumstances. From those circumstances, could the person have reasonably anticipated that harm could come to someone? If so, the harm was foreseeable and a duty of reasonable care was owed.
- Breach of the Duty of Reasonable Care: A person has breached the duty of reasonable care when s/he fails to do what a reasonable person would have done under the same circumstances. To determine what a reasonable person would have done under the same circumstances, you should examine all of the information that the person had or should have had at the time s/he engaged in the conduct and weigh the foreseeable risks of engaging in the conduct against the costs of not engaging in the conduct.
- Causation: In order to establish causation, the person claiming the harm must show that the other person’s conduct was a cause of the harm. There may be more than one cause of harm. If it is more likely than not that the harm would not have occurred but-for the conduct or that the conduct was a substantial factor in bringing about the harm, then the conduct is said to be the cause. In order to be a cause, the act or omission complained of must be such that a person using reasonable care would have foreseen that the harm, or some similar harm, might result.
- Compensation: A person is entitled to compensation for damages that are proven to have resulted from another’s unreasonable conduct. Also known as "actual" damages, compensatory damages include all losses actually sustained by as a result of negligence. A judgment for compensatory damages is intended to make a person whole, or return that person to the state s/he was in prior to the negligent act. Compensatory damages may include economic and non economic damages.
I. Comparative Fault
In this case, both the Defendant and the Plaintiff allege that damages incurred by the other, if any, resulted from the Plaintiff’s and/or Defendant’s own conduct. This is an affirmative defense that is separate from the counterclaim and answer to the counterclaim pled by the Defendant and the Plaintiff respectively. If you determine, after deliberation, that either party contributed in any way to the other’s damages, you are required to apportion fault between the parties. If the Plaintiff's fault is greater than the Defendant's fault, then the Plaintiff recovers nothing under the Plaintiff’s main cause of action. If the Defendant's fault is equal to or greater than the Plaintiff's fault, then the Plaintiff's recovery will be reduced by the percentage of fault attributed to the Plaintiff.
Conversely, if the Defendant’s fault is greater than the Plaintiff’s fault on the Defendant’s counterclaim, then the Defendant recovers nothing under the counterclaim. If the Plaintiff’s fault is equal to or greater than the Defendant’s fault on the Defendant’s counterclaim, then the Defendant’s recovery under the counterclaim is reduced by the percentage of fault attributed to the Defendant. You will decide the total amount of damages, if any, and the relative fault of the parties. I, the presiding judge, will then calculate the damages award based on your findings.

WITNESSES
and
AFFIDAVITS
WITNESS LISTING
PLAINTIFF
Jess McGeePlaintiff - Bull Owner
Mel HinnantDriver – Vehicle #1
Hunter BrownFarm Manager – SG Farms
DEFENSE
Kasey MooreDefendant – Vehicle #2
Sung YeFarm Owner – CH Farm
Wesley WalleSheriff
AFFIDAVIT OF JESS McGEE
- My name is Jess McGee. I am the owner of the Spring Garden Farms in Bryan, which is about fifty miles east of Columbia and about twenty miles west of Spartan City. I have lived on this farm since I was born. I inherited the property from my parents, who got it from their parents. Spartan City is getting closer and closer to my property all the time. Houses and stuff are getting built on what used to be good farming land. It makes me so angry that the city people move out here to get away from it all and then they bring the city with them - drug stores, gas stations, frozen yogurt. They subdivide acres of land that have been farmed for generations and give these crowded, cookie-cutter subdivisions ironic names like Mendenhall Meadows and Guilford Farms. If my greedy neighbors Sung Ye and Sean Hinshaw, the owners of the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms adjacent to mine, have their way, all of Bryan County will be swallowed up by Spartan City pretty soon. So far, I have been able to keep Sung Ye and Sean from selling the land to developers. Sean inherited that land, and the inheritance clearly was not appreciated. I was going to buy the land, but Sung Ye is bent on selling to developers from Spartan City.
- I know that Sung Ye and Sean want to sell and move back to New York. A few years ago, right when they got down here, they tried to sell the land to a developer with a reputation for building subdivisions and strip malls. That is the last thing that we need out here. So, I fought that sale and won, fair and square. Then, I put together a bid on the land and went through a real estate broker, so Sung Ye and Sean would not know it was me. They declined the offer, saying it was too low. I would be interested in buying their land, just not at a premium. Sung Ye and Sean are in cahoots with people from the city with money – like Kasey Moore. We have never spoken to each other, but I know Moore from county council meetings, where I spoke on behalf of the families who want to keep the land undeveloped because they have lived here since Spartan City was one intersection with a flashing light. My presentations to the county council have been successful in slowing the growth somewhat, but it takes a lot of work. We really have to keep our eyes open for developers swooping in and destroying our way of life.
- When I blocked the sale of the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms, Sung Ye basically threatened me with vague claims about my animals getting out of my fence. I had suspected that Sung Ye was cutting my fence and letting my livestock out, but to me, that statement just confirmed it.
- Now cars speed up and down State Road 377 (SR-377), the road that goes beside my farm, because lots of people live in these new houses, but they work or go to school in Spartan City. The speed limit on State Road 377 is 45 miles per hour. I doubt any of the drivers who go on that road ever drive that slowly. It is amazing that we have not had more wrecks, the way people drive around here. People think they are in the city, but there is still a lot of farm land around here; you can come upon a tractor, an animal, a slow moving truck, or something every day. No matter how careful you are, it is inevitable that an animal will escape every now and then.
- I have not reported the speeding to Sheriff Walle, because there is no use. The sheriff just wants to get re-elected and needs the new residents’ votes. The sheriff is not about to upset the residents or lose their votes. Sheriff Walle will not go after the speeders, even if it is dangerous to those of us who have been living here for a long time and who were loyal to the sheriff well before any of the newcomers were ever here.
- On the morning of March 23, 2011, I noticed I had missed a phone call. I looked at the caller ID and saw that it was from Sung Ye. I recognized the number because s/he was always calling to complain about something. I did not check the message or return the call. I had better things to do. I had breakfast and went about my day. While I was outside, I got a call from the sheriff. Sheriff Walle was calling to tell me one of my bulls had escaped the fence and was lying in the road due to a car accident out on State Road 377. Sheriff Walle told me I had better bring a gun.
- I got in my truck and drove the entire length of my fence line that goes by County Road 42 and finally I saw a place where the fence was down. The wreck was just down the road from the cut fence. It was not hard to find because of the flashing lights from the sheriff’s car. I drove to the wreck and saw a minivan and an SUV stopped in the middle of State Road 377 facing east. My poor bull, Pete, was lying in front of the SUV. I was pretty surprised to see him there because I do not believe he has ever gotten out of the fence. It was a terrible sight. All four of Pete’s legs were broken. I had no choice but to put him down right then and there.
- In looking at the scene of the accident, it looked to me like the driver of the minivan was tailgating the driver of the SUV. I talked to both drivers. I spoke with Mel Hinnant, who was driving the SUV. Mel told me that s/he was driving down State Road 377 when Mel saw Pete in the road. While slowing to a stop, Mel’s SUV was hit from behind and pushed into Pete. Mel was pretty upset at the time. Mel had raised Pete from a calf. Even after I bought Pete, Mel would occasionally stop by the farm to see him.
- I have been friends with Mel Hinnant’s family for years. Mel’s dad and I grew up together. I will admit that I paid a premium for Pete, but it turned out to be the best investment I ever made on livestock. It was always my intention to use Pete as a stud. Perhaps it helped Mel attend college, but that was not the purpose of my purchase. I paid $25,000 for Pete and have earned an average of $5,000 per year on stud fees since then, which can be seen on Exhibit #3. I think Pete had at least five good years left in him. A photo of Pete taken the year I got him from Mel is marked as Exhibit #1.
- In the months following the accident, there were some allegations that my farm was responsible for the wreck, since my bull escaped. My fence was in fine condition and I had no reason to think Pete could get loose. I replaced Mel’s Tahoe. It had nothing to do with me being responsible for this incident and certainly was not at all related to the testimony Mel has provided in this case.
- Frankly, I think Sung Ye let Pete out. I believe that Sung Ye will do stuff like that and then say my fence is down or something. I did take a good look at the fence and I could tell it had been cut. I can tell the difference between fence that has been cut and fence that has broken over time. I suspect Sung Ye cut my fence just to get back at me for stopping them from selling their land. I did have someone mend the fence right away so my other livestock would not get out, but we did not save the cut wire.
- I understand that Mel said that I promised not to sue the Hinnant family if I could count on Mel to testify for me. That is a misstatement of what really went on. I told Mel that I had no intention of suing him/her at all and I never did believe Mel was at all responsible for Pete’s death. I never promised not to sue, because I was not planning to sue Mel.
- I am suing Kasey Moore because, although I believe that my fence was deliberately cut, Sheriff Walle told me that Moore could have avoided the collision with proper attention to the road. I am suing Moore for $50,000 for the loss of my prize bull.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Jess McGee
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00 a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
Anthony Roberts
Anthony Roberts, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 10/24/15
AFFIDAVIT OF MEL HINNANT
- My name is Mel Hinnant. I am 20 years old and I have lived in Bryan County my whole life. My father is a long-time farmer, and I grew up living on the farm. I currently attend Community College in Spartan City. I really have no idea what I want to do with my life, but I know I want to get out of Bryan County. I do not want to take over my father’s farm. The farm is up Reynolds Road from where the accident happened.
- I have known Jess McGee my whole life. My dad and Jess grew up together and work closely together in the farming business. I would not consider Jess to be a friend of mine. Jess is much older than me, and was another parent figure for me when I was growing up.
- On March 23, 2011, at about 8:30 a.m., I was involved in a car accident with a minivan driven by Kasey Moore and one of Jess McGee’s bulls. On that day, I was heading to my biology class at the Community College, which started at 8:30 a.m. I was running a little late, but that was normal for me. I often walk into class fifteen minutes late, so running behind does not make me rush, and I was only about fifteen minutes away from campus. I was driving my 2007 Chevrolet Tahoe, which I bought at an auction. At the time of the accident, I was on State Road 377 (SR-377) by the McGee property, which is also known as Spring Garden Farms.
- As I came over a crest in the road, I saw a huge bull standing in the middle of the road. I slammed on my brakes and came to a stop about two feet short of the bull. At that point, I realized it was Pete. He just stood there staring at me. I was surprised he did not move when I started honking. Within a matter of seconds, I was hit from behind by Kasey Moore, who hit me so hard that my Tahoe slammed into Pete, breaking all of his legs. I called 911 to report the accident and let them know a bull was injured.
- I do not believe I was speeding. The speed limit is 45 miles per hour on State Road 377. I generally drive right around 45 miles per hour on that stretch of road. It was sunny, so I had no trouble seeing the bull in the road after cresting a small hill about 50 yards from where Pete was standing. I was raised in this area and know these roads very well.
- I drive down State Road 377 by Jess’s property several times a week. It is the only way for me to get from my house to school. Last week, I saw a bull roaming around near the road outside the fence. It might have been Pete, but I am not 100% sure it was, because I did not really get a good look at him. I have noticed some damage to the fence on Jess’s property in the past, but lots of fences get damaged. I cannot recall if the fence was damaged on the day of the accident.
- I was not injured in the accident, but my Tahoe was totaled. The only one hurt in the accident was Pete, so far as I know. Sadly, Pete’s legs were broken so badly, that Jess had to put him down.
- This was a real tragedy for me. I raised Pete from a calf. When I was in the seventh grade, I thought I wanted to be a farmer, so I joined the Future Farmers of America. I saved all my money one year, and bought Pete from a farm in Georgia. I had no idea that Pete would turn out like he did. In the ninth grade, I entered him in the State Fair’s Livestock Show and he was the Grand Champion. Jess McGee bought Pete in 2006 for $25,000. My heart is broken because of Pete’s death. Even though I sold him, I still considered Pete to be mine.
- Sheriff Walle responded to the accident. I knew Sheriff Walle immediately, because the sheriff has given me several tickets in the past. I told the sheriff that Kasey Moore was either driving too fast or was talking on a cell phone, texting or something, because there was plenty of time to see me and stop. I mean, I managed to stop before hitting Pete. Kasey Moore was clearly at fault for Pete’s death.
- Jess and I have discussed the facts of this case, and we both agree as to what happened. I saw Pete. I stopped my car two feet from him. Kasey Moore slammed into the back of me, pushing me forward so violently that my Tahoe broke Pete’s legs.
- Jess has not paid me for my testimony. I do not plan to sue Jess because Jess is not at fault. Jess did tell me that I would not be sued if I was able to tell how the accident happened. Jess replaced my Tahoe, which is why I have not sued anyone. I would not have sued Jess anyway since Jess is not responsible for Pete getting loose. If I was going to sue anyone, it would have been Kasey Moore for hitting me. Escaped animals are a part of life in the country. That is why drivers need to pay careful attention when they drive in farming communities.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Mel Hinnant
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00 a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
William Smith
William Smith, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 12/08/15
AFFIDAVIT OF HUNTER BROWN
- My name is Hunter Brown. I live on Spring Garden Farms, where I am employed as the farm manager. I live with my spouse, Kerry Brown, who is the assistant manager. Spring Garden Farms is located on State Road 377 (SR-377) in Bryan County.
- My career in farming began at a very young age. I was born and raised in Montana, where my parents owned a cattle ranch. We ran 2,000 head of cattle on 150,000 acres. I loved life in Montana. I learned to ride horses when I was six, and by the age of ten, I would ride out with the farm hands to help with feeding, checking fence line, caring for sick animals, and of course the round-ups when we would move cattle from the high country to the low country in the winter, and then back up into the high prairies in the summer.
- My life on the ranch in Montana came to a sudden halt shortly after my fifteenth birthday. Dad was called in to help with a group of hikers who were lost in the mountains in Glacier National Park. Dad went in, but he never came out. Mom was devastated. We stayed in Montana for another year, but her heart was no longer in it. She sold the ranch to a large commercial operation. Leaving the ranch was the second saddest day of my life.
- We moved to Spartan City, South Carolina. It was a different life, for sure. I had been raised outdoors, roping and riding. “City life” is not my thing. I missed my horses. After graduating from Guilford High School, I enrolled at Clemson University. I received a dual degree in animal husbandry and vet tech. South Carolina is different from Montana. Some farmers raise cows and bulls, but there is no real cattle ranching here. Farmers around here treat cattle more like a hobby or like pets, giving them cute names and taking them to the state fair. I wanted to work at a big ranch after college and even maybe go back home, but it didn’t happen. I would have left, right out of college, and headed to Texas or even back to Montana, but it was not in the cards for me. I met Kerry in college and we got married before our senior year. Shortly after we graduated, we had a baby. Kerry’s grandmother was in poor health with no other living relatives. We stayed to take care of her and we have been here ever since.
- After college, I was hired by Jess McGee, owner of Spring Garden Farms. Kerry got hired shortly after I did. Given my background, I cannot say that it is an ideal place for me to work, but Jess does have some cattle. Dairy cows, mainly, and a few bulls we stud out. Jess had only just acquired Pete when I came on. I think Jess bought Pete from Mel Hinnant to help Mel out with college. After all, I am the one that convinced Jess to stud Pete out. That turned out to be very lucrative for the farm, so much that Jess bought a few more bulls. Quite frankly, Pete was past his prime. Stud fees had tapered off and I had recommended replacing him, but Jess had an attachment to Pete. Jess and the hands on the farm are not very good at cattle ranching, and the place really was not set up for it. I did the best I could with funds available to upgrade the pastures to keep the livestock and horses safe and secured.
- I think Jess always knew I was not happy on the farm. Several years ago, Jess came to me and offered to put up my filing fees and campaign costs to run against Sheriff Wesley Walle. Although it is not my first choice, I prefer being a farm manager to a sheriff. Sheriff Walle and I always got along fine, no reason to jeopardize that. Elections are coming up again in a couple of years. Jess has asked me to run again. I am pretty sure I am not going to run, but Kerry might.
- Our daily life at Spring Garden Farms is what you might expect. We wake up at 4:00 a.m. every morning. After breakfast, I saddle up and check the livestock. While I prefer to ride out on horseback, Kerry takes the ATV. In addition to checking the livestock, we also keep a close eye on the fence lines. As they say, the grass is always greener on the other side of the fence. That is how a cow thinks, anyway.
- Our biggest problem with the fence line is on the northwestern section where State Road 377 intersects with Reynolds Road. We never had much of a problem with escaping livestock, although it did happen from time to time. Then, this past fall we started noticing cuts in the fence line. I have been riding fence for 20 years, and know a cut from a break. These were definitely cuts. We started monitoring the fence real closely in that same area, and the cuts continued to appear every couple of weeks, usually right after a Friday or Saturday night.
- The wreck happened on March 23, 2011, a Wednesday. I know that we checked that fence line Monday morning and there was one hole in the fence on the northeast side, but we fixed it. We had to string three new strands for 300 feet total used. We made sure it was good and tight. I am certain that there was new wire at that corner there by County Road 42.
- The morning of the crash, I was riding my horse out to the south pasture to check on the livestock. Kerry was close behind me on the ATV. I had my radio with me, and got a call from Jess. I was told that there was a wreck on State Road 377 near County Road 42 – the same area where we had fixed the latest hole in the fence. Jess wanted to know why the fence had not been repaired. I said that it had been repaired, and talked about the 300 feet of new barbed wire that we replaced. Jess told me that one of the bulls was hit by a SUV. I swear I had fixed that line. Kerry sped off on the ATV and I took my horse at a full gallop to the north pasture to check it out.
- I got to the scene of the accident and saw Jess standing next to the remains of Pete. Jess and I spoke briefly. Then, Kerry and I immediately rode the fence and found a new break in the line near the accident. It was in the area we had repaired earlier. We showed it to the sheriff and put up a temporary fence and called the farm hands to fix it. No doubt, the fence was cut. I could not tell how long it had been cut, but it was. No question.
- After Pete was removed from the road, Kerry and I split up and rode the entire fence. I got to a part of the fence on the west side adjacent to the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms and noticed that some of the fence was down. I immediately rode back to the scene of the accident and found the sheriff still there. I let the sheriff know of the other break I found. The sheriff showed me a drawing of the farm boundaries. I marked where the break was that we repaired on County Road 42, where the new break was on County Road 42, and where the other break was on Reynolds Road. We immediately had that break fixed too. This second break was not near the accident, and now that I think of it, I probably should have taken a picture of the break where the accident happened.
- I suspect Sung Ye and Sean of cutting our line. They have been nothing but trouble since moving to the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms. And it always seems that those calls about a broken fence or a loose animal occur near the same time these events happen. I do not want to accuse anyone without proof, but there are coincidences, and there are some things that are not.
- I do not know Kasey Moore, but I have seen that minivan racing up and down State Road 377 almost every day for a year now. I have even commented to Kerry when we were riding fences together that someone was going to get hurt or even killed if those commuters from the city did not start slowing down.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Hunter Brown
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
C.H. Gallant
C.H. Gallant, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 12/5/14
AFFIDAVIT OF KASEY MOORE
- My name is Kasey Moore. I have three kids - ages nine, six and four. I am a single parent, as my spouse died in a boating accident in January of 2010. Most of my free time is spent running the road and carting the kids to various activities. I am constantly running from one place to another.
- I grew up in Spartan City. I finished college in 1990, got a job as an investment banker and then got married. My work as an investment banker turned out to be particularly lucrative. We were doing so well that my spouse and I were able to consider living options apart from a small place in the city. We did not like the thought of raising children in the city with all the traffic, so we decided to move to the suburbs. We bought a lot in a new subdivision called Guilford Farms. We broke ground on our house September 2009. Tragically, my spouse did not live to see it completed. The kids and I moved into the house February 15, 2011. Living out there makes for a hectic commute and lots of time on the road, especially since I am a single parent now.
- I am familiar with Jess McGee, who has showed up to a few county council meetings with complaints about construction and development of farmland in the area. McGee is fighting a losing battle. People love living out there. Personally, I cannot wait until more of the farm land is sold. I own almost an acre and have a pool and enough room for the kids to play. In fact, I am looking into becoming partners with the builders that are trying to develop the area, since it is only twenty-two miles from the center of Spartan City. Getting in on the ground floor could really solidify my financial future.
- When the accident happened on March 23, 2011, I was driving the minivan. I was taking the boys to school, which started at 9:00 a.m. My four year old daughter, also in the minivan, spilled milk all over the place, so needless to say she was upset and crying. Then the boys started arguing, and it made me mad. I yelled at the kids to keep quiet, because I was talking to a co-worker on the speaker phone about a big meeting we had coming up. I remember that the accident happened on a Wednesday morning, because the boys had karate lessons after school that day. In fact, I recall now that they were arguing about which one forgot the uniform bag. I was considering turning around and going back home for the uniforms when the wreck happened. We only live about fifteen minutes away from the school, so I probably could have made it back home and to the school without making the boys late; although I might have been late for work. It does not really matter now. After all that, the boys did not make it to school that day and I had to cancel my meetings for the day as well.
- Of course, I was paying attention to my driving. I always do. It was daylight, and the weather was clear, and I was not speeding. I remember that I was following this SUV as we went up a small hill, and when I crested it, the sun blasted me in the eyes. Just then, the SUV slammed on its brakes. I braked, but everything happened so fast. I am pretty sure that the SUV hit something, which turned out to be a bull in the road, before I hit the SUV. Fortunately, everyone was strapped in their seatbelts and no one was hurt in the accident. At the time of the accident, I was talking on the phone, but I was using the hands free ability with the car’s phone, navigation and emergency system, linked to my smart phone. Both of my hands were on the wheel, and I was looking straight ahead.
- I remembered the SUV passed me just a little ways back before we started going up the hill. It was definitely speeding. I was following along behind as we went up the hill and was a usual distance behind, maybe three to four car lengths. The accident caused my sunglasses to fly off, hit the windshield and break. I think the SUV hit the bull before I hit it. I could see the back of the SUV, and it looked to me like it came to a stop in a way that was not normal. Like it hit something, because it seemed to me like it kind of bounced. Everything happened very fast and I was braking and worrying about the kids all at the same time.
- After the accident, we were sitting there and my emergency system was instantly activated. The operator asked if everything was okay. My airbags had deployed and there was all this airbag powder in the van. Anyway, I told the operator that we were in an accident and needed help. We all stayed in the minivan until the sheriff got there. I got out to talk to the sheriff and the other driver. I made sure the kids stayed in the van so they would not see the injured bull.
- I remember that I was standing near the sheriff when Jess McGee showed up. They seemed to know each other, but not in a good way, you know? It was almost like McGee was unhappy that the sheriff was out there investigating the accident. McGee and the sheriff talked briefly and then McGee put the bull down. At one point, I overheard McGee say to the other driver something about suing someone, and I knew then that I was going to get sued over this. Jess McGee and the other driver also seemed to know each other. In fact, I am certain that I heard McGee say to the other driver something like, “We know what happened here, right?” And the other driver definitely said, “that’s what we get for letting these city people out here….” About ten minutes later, McGee’s assistant got there.
- After that, some farm hands came with a backhoe and hauled the bull off. There was this one person who was talking with McGee for a long time. I remember that this person rode off on a horse and stayed right up next to the fence. I quit paying attention to them after a few minutes. I was the only person Jess McGee did not speak to at the scene of the accident. Jess McGee did not even bother to come and check to see if my kids and I were okay.
- Eventually a tow truck showed up from the Golden Dealership in Spartan City. They do car repairs, rentals and sales. My minivan was a total loss. I am countersuing Jess McGee for the value of my vehicle, my sunglasses, the cost of towing and the rental car fee. My car would not have been totaled if McGee maintained the pasture fence. The estimate for repair and bill for the towing and rental are marked as Exhibit #7. A photograph of my damaged minivan is marked as Exhibit #4. I am also claiming damages to my sunglasses, which cost me $120, marked as Exhibit #8.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Kasey Moore
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00 a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
Michala Watson
Michala Watson, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 4/3/19
AFFIDAVIT OF SUNG YE
- My name is Sung Ye. Fortunately, I am not from Bryan County. I grew up in New York City and lived most of my life in Manhattan. I always loved the hustle and bustle of the greatest city in the world.
- The other love of my life is my spouse, Sean Hinshaw. We were introduced by a mutual friend at a party in New York. Sean was living there at the time, working as a freelance photographer. Sean and I had completely different upbringings. Sean grew up on a family farm, the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms, which is outside of Columbia. When we were dating and after we were married, we visited the farm together several times. But rural life is way too boring for me. I could deal with short weekend trips, but I always told Sean that I could never live in a place like that.
- Sean and I were married exactly two years after we first met. We lived in Manhattan until February 2007, when Sean’s mother passed away leaving Sean the house and farm. At the time, money was relatively tight. I was working at the NYC parking authority, and our landlord was trying to raise the rent. Sean asked me if we should move back to the farm because it would save us money. I did not want to move, and I do not think Sean wanted to move either, but our money situation sort of left us no choice. I agreed to move to South Carolina, but on the condition that we try to sell the property as soon as possible. We were planning to move back to New York once we sold the property.
- The farm was exactly the same boring place I remembered; only now it was not just a vacation. It was home. Columbia was too far away to go there regularly and Spartan City – well, they call it a “city” but there really was not all that much to it. I was miserable. I immediately started looking for a buyer for the farm. I found a buyer in the fall of 2007. At that time Spartan City was starting to grow, and land developers were looking to make large land purchases in the county. The Cotten-Hinshaw Farms was a little further out than most of the developments, but I thought for sure the sale would go through, and we would be back in New York before the New Year. The sale of the farm was prevented by one person – Jess McGee.
- McGee and I did not get along from the start. McGee owns Spring Garden Farms, which borders the Cotten-Hinshaw Farms, with Reynolds Road as the dividing line. McGee was a very vocal opponent of me selling any of Sean’s family farm. Early in the negotiations with our buyer, I was approached by McGee, who told me there was no way our farm would be turned into one of those commuter neighborhoods. McGee made a big stink with the county council that scared away our buyer, and that was that. Then, real estate prices started to drop and anyone who might have been interested in buying out there knew there would be a fist-fight with the locals to be able to actually build. After that, we only got one offer relayed by our agent, but it was way too low. So we are stuck here.
- Spring Garden Farms is quite a bit larger than our farm, but we still have enough land to make for a very nice housing community. Given that I have been told that lots of people out there want to sell to the developers, it just makes sense. We are sort of waiting for prices to start back up. McGee has not been completely successful in keeping people from selling their land to developers. Several new housing developments have been popping up several miles down the road on the way to Spartan City. There is still mostly farmland between us and those developments, but that is changing, too.
- McGee is not careful with the fence. Do you know how many times I have had to call about those animals getting out? The answer is dozens. Whenever I saw a hole in the fence, I would call and leave a message with McGee and the sheriff about it. I mean, I never wanted their animals loose or in the roads. The sheriff always told me that I should call McGee and be “neighborly.” When I called McGee, I did it during the day, since I knew that McGee would be out working and I wanted to avoid confrontation. The last time I tried calling, McGee got really angry and accused me and Sean of deliberately sabotaging the fence in order to stir up complaints about Spring Garden’s livestock escaping.
- I guess that I have called McGee a lot. When Robert Frost said that “good fences make good neighbors,” he never met Jess McGee. There is no fence that good. Whenever I left McGee a message reporting the fence being down, it was generally fixed pretty quickly. But the fact is that those fences were down way too much. Someone should have done something, like move the livestock to a different part of the farm or use a better fence.
- On the evening of March 22, 2011, Sean and I were driving along State Road 377 on our way to the airport. We were going to see some friends in New York and ran into Spartan City for some last minute gifts. As we passed Spring Garden Farms on our way to Spartan City, we saw a huge hole in McGee’s fence and his big black bull was standing near the hole, but inside the property. I gave McGee a call right then to say “come fix the fence.” I got voice mail, even though it was after 7:00 p.m. I left a voicemail message letting Jess know about the hole in the fence. It was not until we got back a few days later that we heard about the accident. That is when I called Kasey Moore and offered my information.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Sung Ye
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00 a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
Miriam Wrenn
Miriam Wrenn, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 12/08/15
AFFIDAVIT OF WESLEY WALLE
- My name is Sheriff Wesley Walle. I am 37 years old and live in Bryan County. I was born and raised in South Carolina and enjoy the country life. As sheriff, I am responsible for the law enforcement in a county where there are not many cities and there are even fewer people.
- After graduating high school, I went to Community College to study criminal justice. My daddy was a deputy sheriff and his daddy was too, so I pretty much knew from a young age that I would be following the path they laid for me. After finishing my associate’s degree in criminal justice, I was hired by the Spartan City Police Department (SCPD). The department put me through the SC Criminal Justice Academy after that. I liked working for the SCPD, but I always wanted to be closer to home, so I accepted a position as deputy under the old sheriff in 2002.
- Truth be told, I really wanted to be a sheriff from the time I was little. As I grew up, I learned that being sheriff was as much about politics as it was about police work, so I joined some organizations as soon as I got out of the academy and started working on my political contacts. I got a chance to run for election in 2006 when Sheriff Langevin decided to retire. I won the election by 30 votes. Nobody ran against me in 2010, and I am not up again until 2014.
- On March 23, 2011, I was sitting in Hamm’s Diner, having coffee with Mark Dossey, one of my deputies. I got a call over the radio from one of our dispatchers, who said they received two calls about an accident out on State Road 377 between Reynolds Road and County Road 42 involving a bull and a couple of cars. The dispatcher said the bull was hurt badly, but there were no reports of injuries to the people in the cars. I told Deputy Dossey to pay the tab and meet me at the scene. I got in my patrol car and immediately headed out there.
- I left Hamm’s at 08:39 and arrived on scene at 09:03. After exiting my patrol car, I saw Mel Hinnant standing by the vehicles in the road and Kasey Moore was still in the minivan. I quickly surveyed the scene and saw the bull in front of the lead vehicle. I looked at the bull from a safe distance and it looked to me like it had four broken legs. Jess McGee’s farm was along that stretch of State Road 377, so I assumed the bull was from there. I called and told Jess what happened and that someone had best get on over here and possibly bring a gun to put the bull down. Jess showed up a few minutes later with a rifle. Jess then looked at the bull and decided to euthanize him. I hated to see it, but there was no question the bull had to be put down.
- State Road 377 is a two lane black top road running east and west, striped with fog lines and a center line. The speed limit on State Road 377 is 45 miles per hour, mainly because of all the farm equipment used on that road. At the point where the accident occurred, there are farms on either side of the road with fences separating the farms. Spring Garden Farms is a pretty good size farm with about 2.5 miles of frontage on State Road 377. The two vehicles were situated in the eastbound lane, one behind the other. The lead vehicle, a Chevrolet Tahoe driven by Mel Hinnant, had damage to the front and rear. The trailing vehicle, a Dodge minivan driven by Kasey Moore, was only damaged in the front where it hit Hinnant’s vehicle. It was not clear how all that happened, so I separated the two drivers and questioned each of them individually.
- I have had some past run-ins with Hinnant, but it has been awhile since I have written him/her any tickets. As you might have guessed, Hinnant said “that van rear ended me.” Moore said “I came over this little rise and there was his/her car, stopped in the middle of my lane.” Now, it is hard to say whether Hinnant hit the bull before being rear ended by Moore or the other way around. Hinnant claimed to have stopped before hitting the bull and said that Moore pushed his/her car into the bull. Moore claimed to have seen, immediately before hitting Hinnant, the bull lying in the road and said Hinnant’s car was a bit sideways from hitting the bull. Both Hinnant and Moore told me they were traveling “around 45” at the time of the collision. I checked the road for indicators for the speed and braking of the vehicles. It appeared both cars laid down some skid marks. Sometimes when we have collisions like this I will call in the state troopers, since they could have examined the scene and told us how fast everyone was going, but I did not in this case because, except for the bull, no one was hurt.
- About this time, Deputy Dossey arrived on scene, so I had him make a drawing of the accident scene marked as Exhibit #6. I drew on the map the location of the wreck and the small rise in the road. Dossey also took pictures of the scene and the vehicles using his mobile phone. We tried to measure the skid marks, but there was so much overlap that we could not tell which mark came from which car, so I had Dossey pick up the debris from the vehicles. I also had him call the dispatcher on the radio and ask for a couple of tow trucks to come out to the scene of the accident and clear the road. The tow trucks arrived about 30 minutes later and towed the two vehicles. McGee had some of the farm hands use a front end loader to remove the bull.
- As part of my investigation, I tried to figure out how the bull got in the road. The fence was not down in the immediate area near the collision. Before I could begin to examine the fence in detail, Hunter Brown, the farm manager for Spring Garden Farms, arrived on scene. I asked Hunter about the fence. Hunter said they had been having some problems with cuts in the fence. They rode that fence line two days before the collision and repaired a hole on the north side.
- I inspected the fence in the immediate area of the scene, and it was not down. Hunter then showed me a place that looked like where the bull could have gotten out near the intersection with County Road 42, about a quarter mile from where the collision occurred. The barbed wire was either cut or broken, but I could not tell which. It was not rusted, worn or old in that area. McGee’s farmhands were called to fix the repair in the fence near the accident. Before I left the scene of the accident, Hunter Brown returned indicating that s/he found another break in the fence on the west side of the farm on Reynolds Road. I showed Hunter the map that I had indicating where the accident was on the map and asked Hunter to mark on the map showing where the breaks were; the break near the accident, the recently repaired break, and the one s/he had just found on Reynolds Road.
- At the point of the collision, State Road 377 is straight, but there is a small rise about fifty yards to the west. Based on my investigation, the bull would probably not have been visible to an eastbound driver until cresting the hill. It was a clear morning. I did not write any citations for this collision. I was unable to determine who was at fault. That said, the bull was far enough from the little hill that the collision could have been avoided by either driver.
- With Dossey’s assistance, I reviewed and approved Dossey’s written report of the investigation, which is marked as Exhibit #5. As far as the pictures he took with his phone, when I reviewed my file in preparation for giving this statement, the photos were not there. About a month after the collision, Dossey’s reserve unit was deployed to Afghanistan, where the unit remains today. I have been unable to reach him to ask about the photographs.
- Jess McGee and I grew up together, but we do not get along all that well. Jess financed someone to run against me in 2006, but apparently could not find anyone to run against me in 2010. I do know that I heard that Jess wanted someone to challenge me in that election. I expect a challenger in 2014. I am not really sure what the tension is, but I am not against the new residential expansion in the county and Jess McGee is.
- McGee also never reported that someone cut the fence at Spring Garden Farms. I have seen cut wire before – we had some problems with livestock theft several years ago. Sung Ye (who married Sean Hinshaw and moved down from New York when Sean’s mama died) had called a few times about McGee’s fence being down on the west side of the property. I always tried to tell Sung Ye that a down fence was not a crime and recommended Sung Ye call McGee directly.
WITNESS ADDENDUM
I have reviewed this statement, and I have nothing of significance to add at this time. The material facts are true and correct.
Signed,
Wesley Walle
SIGNED AND SWORN to me before 8:00a.m. on the day of this round of the 2012 South Carolina Middle School Mock Trial Competition.
A.G. Molli
A.G. Molli, Notary Public
State of South Carolina
My Commission Expires: 12/15/15
EXHIBITS
EXHIBITS AVAILABLE TO BOTH PARTIES
The parties have stipulated to the authenticity of the trial exhibits listed below. The Court will, therefore, not entertain objections to authenticity of these trial exhibits. The parties have reserved any objections to the admissibility of any of these exhibits until the trial of the above-captioned matter. The trial exhibits may be introduced by either the Plaintiff or the Defendant, subject to the Rules of Evidence and the stipulations of the parties contained in the materials.
#EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION
- Photo of Pete the Bull
- Bill of Sale for Pete the Bull
- Ledger of Earnings from Pete the Bull
- Photo of Damaged Vehicle #2
- Investigation Report
- Map of Accident Scene
- Estimate for Repair Bill and Towing
- Bill for Sunglasses
The parties reserve the right to dispute any other legal or factual conclusions based on these items and to make objections to these items based on other evidentiary issues.








